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Praise for Seventy Times Seven


‘A compassionate account of mercy for a teenage girl on death row… [this book] demonstrate[s] the impact that great true crime can have… giv[ing] a full accounting not just of the details of the crimes but of the lives of those a affected by violence, exploring whether the legal system can truly provide justice.’


Sarah Weinman, The New York Times


‘Haunting … You’ll find yourself lying awake in the small hours, turning it over and over in your mind… Seventy Times Seven is a book about the promise and limits of empathy — the ways in which we see one another, and the ways in which we cannot… Seventy Times Seven gives readers an unflinching glimpse into brutality, pain, loneliness, rage and revenge, and asks if regret, compassion, mercy and forgiveness can be enough to bridge the gulfs of race, class and ideology that so often divide us… Full of questions and painful ambiguities — and Mar is courageous enough to leave most of her questions unanswered.’


Rosa Brooks, The Washington Post


‘Riveting… [Mar] chronicles Cooper’s case with sensitivity and addresses challenges of juvenile punishment with insight… A probing and moving book.’


The Wall Street Journal


‘Mar’s narrative is probing, careful, elegant, and sure; each page yields a new dimension of the story and requires us to re-engage with the facts anew. This is a complicated tale, gracefully told, that will engross readers for years to come.’


New York Magazine (The Best Books of 2023)


‘[An] intimate and highly sympathetic account. Anyone moved by Bryan Stevenson’s memoir, Just Mercy, will find Mar’s book a compelling companion piece on the issue of crime and punishment in America. It’s a story that beautifully marries tragedy and hope, illuminating some of the worst and best of which human beings are capable.’


BookPage


‘[Alex Mar] ultimately gets as close to the truth as she possibly can through dogged research and clear, concise storytelling. The result, Seventy Times Seven: A True Story of Murder and Mercy, stands as not only riveting but also as a meditation on a broken justice system, the idea of forgiveness when the circumstances are so grim, and the nature of justice itself.’


Shondaland


‘The only way this country will ever free itself of the moral stain that is capital punishment is through stories like the one Mar tells in Seventy Times Seven: of individual compassion and moral courage.’


Jonny Diamond, Literary Hub


‘An engrossing study of faith, forgiveness, and justice… Deeply reported and vividly written, this is a harrowing and thought-provoking portrait of crime and punishment.’


Publishers Weekly (starred review)


‘Mar’s expansive, humanitarian legal history is also an investigation of belief… This is an unsettling look at the recent past and a profoundly a affecting read.’


Booklist (starred review)


‘A probing examination of the intersection of race, crime, and punishment.’


Kirkus


‘A tautly written, wholly empathic work that will stay with you long after you’ve read it.’


Vol. 1 Brooklyn


‘Alex Mar’s bold yet sensitive account of one of America’s youngest death row inmates — and the people whose lives she forever changed — is intimately reported, deeply moving, and unforgettable.’


Robert Kolker, New York Times bestselling author of Hidden Valley Road


‘Seventy Times Seven is an absorbing work of social history and a story about the mystery and miracle of forgiveness. It is a book of awesome scope, and it deserves to be read with attention.’


Hilary Mantel, Booker Prize-winning author of the Wolf Hall Trilogy


‘Seventy Times Seven is a devastating and essential book, a meticulous deconstruction of the social fears and personal calculations that built and still uphold the death penalty in America. A brilliant reporter and empathetic narrator, Alex Mar has written the truest kind of crime drama, unafraid of rendering our narratives about justice less comforting.’


Sierra Crane Murdoch, finalist for the Pulitzer Prize for Yellow Bird


‘Alex Mar’s Seventy Times Seven is a monumental achievement, probing the toughest questions that all nonfiction crime narratives must ask and emerging with a story of profound moral inquiry, the limits of where we can find justice, and the power of compassion, often in the most surprising quarters. When we wish to understand ourselves and society at our worst and at our best, look no further than this book.’


Sarah Weinman, author of The Real Lolita and Scoundrel
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For Todd


And then you arrived.







   

Then Peter came to Jesus and asked, “Lord, how


many times shall I forgive my brother or sister


who sins against me? Up to seven times?”


Jesus answered, “I tell you, not seven times,


but seventy times seven.”


—The Gospel of Matthew
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PROLOGUE



On a spring afternoon in 1985, in Gary, Indiana, four teenage girls enter the home of an elderly woman under false pretenses, and when they leave she is dead. One of them, a fifteen-year-old, will soon be sentenced to death for murder. There is no question of her guilt; this is not a story of wrongful conviction.


The crime was violent enough to shock the conscience—a legal phrase the prosecutor invokes—and so no voices of protest will rise up in that city, or in broader Lake County or farther south in the capital, at the impending execution of a tenth grader. Not until a man very close to the victim, her grandson, publicly forgives the girl—against the wishes of his family—and campaigns to spare her life. Not until the crime is featured on the front pages of newspapers and television programs five thousand miles away, across the ocean, where petitions are signed by millions, does the American media begin to question the outcome of this case. A tragedy in a midwestern steel town will continue to play out, have its second act, as far away as the Vatican. From criminal court in northern Indiana, the reverberations of the case will eventually be felt in the highest court of the United States.


Over the past five years, I have read thousands of pages of documents, personal letters, and newspaper features, and scanned through thousands of photographs and dozens of hours of footage. I have conducted interviews with some eighty individuals, culminating in hundreds of hours of conversation. Throughout, I was asking myself about the nature of belief, of conviction, the source of our guiding principles. I have asked myself what our common definition of justice might be, if there is even a shared understanding of the word.


Unlike some of the people whose lives and choices I will describe here, I am not a practicing Christian. But I have returned again and again to a moment from the Gospel of Matthew that has special meaning for someone at the center of this story: the moment when the disciple Peter asks Jesus how many times he should forgive those who harm him. The answer is seventy times seven—an enormous number, as if Jesus were suggesting his followers be prepared to forgive an infinite number of times. It is hard to imagine someone who could carry this out; it is hard to know if such a request is even fair. Anger is a very human, instinctual response. The act of forgiveness, I think, is more alien, and requires something tougher: a belief that none of us is solely defined by the worst thing we have ever done. That each of us remains human, sometimes in spite of our actions. And that sometimes, our actions are a response to forces larger than ourselves.


This is a story that asks what any community is willing to accept as just consequences—as justice—for harm done. It is a difficult question, one that each person in this book has been forced to confront. Because whatever the answer, its impact will be more sprawling than predicted, hard to contain. Whether or not we choose to acknowledge it, in ways very great or very small, the fates of neighbors are linked.
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One



THE CARE OF CHILDREN



One house of the many that make up a city: a pale-yellow house, an hour after sunup in Gary, Indiana. A woman lives here, on Wisconsin Street, with her two daughters. Rhonda is twelve, her sister Paula is nine. It is 1979. 


Their mother—her name is Gloria—hustles them outside into the morning light, and then into the dark of the garage and the back seat of her red Chevy Vega. The girls are very young, and they are powerfully tired. They understand what their mother intends to do—she has kept them up all night softly talking then shouting then whimpering to them about where they’ll be traveling together, about what must happen next—and they are no longer resistant.


With her daughters inside, Gloria tugs at the garage door until it slides down to meet the concrete. She slips into the driver’s side, rolls down the windows, turns the key in the ignition: the engine gives off a deep, thrumming sound. Then she waits for them to close their eyes and fall into that steady rhythm; she can see their faces in the rearview mirror, small and brown and perfect. All three are still, their limbs grown heavy as if underwater.


The engine continues running; the minutes accumulate; the air thickens.


Outside the garage, the neighborhood is awakening. Inside the garage, the girls are passing into an unnatural sleep.


What Rhonda remembers next: she and Paula laying side by side on their bottom bunk, not knowing how they got there. They have not exited the world. Gloria is leaning over them, her daughters: they will be all right, she says. Just before leaving.


Rhonda does not know how much time has passed before she is able to move her body. She rises slowly. A letter is taped to the door, from their mother: She is finishing what she set out to do. Rhonda rushes to the kitchen and calls her aunt, who tells her to run, get their neighbor. Through the window, she thinks she sees exhaust seeping out from under the garage door, into the bright daylight.


Mr. Hollis drags Gloria out of the garage and lays her on her back on the lawn. He drops to his knees and with elbows locked, hand over hand, pushes hard on her chest. Again and again. The neighbor across the street, a nurse, rushes over and takes her turn trying to pump breath back into Gloria’s body.


The ambulance arrives, and the fire department, and a medic becomes the third person in line to tend to Gloria. By now, Paula is standing outside, watching. Rhonda sees her younger sister grow hysterical at the sight of this stranger bearing down on their mother’s chest, and Gloria not responding, not responding.


Something Rhonda will not forget: no one examines them, the girls. The firemen, the medics—no one so much as takes their pulse. When Gloria is swept off to the hospital, the sisters go stay with their aunt. When after a week their mother checks herself out early, no one asks any questions; when she comes to retrieve her daughters, no one stops her.


For years, Rhonda has said that she does not know what transformed her sister. But now she tells me, as if untangling the question aloud, that this was it. This must have been the start of a change in Paula. “Because you have to understand: We were all supposed to have been dead. That’s what we were expecting, that’s what we were hoping.” But they were still alive. And what now—another day in the yellow house?


The house stands in Marshalltown, a subdivision of the Pulaski neighborhood, integrated by Black working-class families in the 1950s. Theirs is one of a collection of streets lined with neat, ranch-style homes, single-family, with small front yards.


About a mile west of here is Midtown, or the Central District, once the sole, clearly delineated quarter of Gary’s entire Black community. And a mile into Midtown is Broadway, which runs north-south the entire length of the city. That four-lane street leads you north into downtown, where the architecture collapses time: an ornate brick department store, now boarded up; a children’s clothing store, now boarded up; the former headquarters of a major regional bank, its Greco-Roman façade left to grow tarnished. People still shop here, but more and more, steel accordion gates have been pulled shut across entranceways and display windows and left that way. More and more, businesses have closed up or moved south, into the malls of the white suburbs.


Broadway’s final destination in the north, at the edge of downtown, is the Gary Works, along the southern shoreline of Lake Michigan. The United States Steel Corporation dominates the waterfront, the plant’s rows of smokestacks darkening the air overhead; at night the compound glows red. At this moment, thousands rotate shifts here day and night, unaware that, within the next three years, more than two thirds of them will lose their jobs. About 150,000 people live in this town, most of them linked to the mill. It is the reason the city exists.


Just three generations ago, this area was all sand and swampland, a great expanse of nothing thirty miles from Chicago. It was the start of the 1900s, and the state of Indiana, shaped like a boot pointed West, was very rural and very white, its nearly one hundred counties distinguished by the sheer number of railway lines crisscrossing through it. Lake County, some six hundred square miles at its northwest corner, pressed against the shoreline. The county’s most desolate stretch, along the water, was used as a private hunting and fishing club by Chicago’s wealthier men, and as a hideaway by that city’s fugitives. Winding rivers and tributaries, dense marshland, the rough terrain of the dunes—territory to pass through. It was here that U.S. Steel decided to buy nine thousand acres. They leveled the dunes, filled a half mile stretch of the lake, packed the marshes, rerouted part of the Grand Calumet River, dug out a mile-long ship canal, and began construction of the mill itself, with its massive blast furnaces and coke ovens. Within a handful of years, the Gary Works was completed, along with the beginnings of a company town.


In the building of every city, decisions are made as to who gets what. These decisions are built into the layout of the streets, the digging of trenches, the laying down of water pipes and sewer drains, the doling out of permits and licenses, the paving of roads and the rolling out of sidewalks, the planning and funding of schools and parks. There are many accidents along the way, the unintended aftershocks of these choices, but a city’s framework, the bones of it, is laid down with intent. Some groups of residents are protected and served, while others are left isolated and exposed. This is the tension underlying all American cities, and in Gary this tension was extreme from the start.


Of the two sisters in the yellow house, Paula is a much gentler girl, a wuss, a baby, the biggest chicken—that’s how her sister thinks of her—and Rhonda is the boss. They live around the corner from Bethune Elementary, where they’re both enrolled, a quick run from door to door. Which is helpful, because Paula gets into fights after school. That is, she starts something she can’t finish, and then she races back home with two or three angry girls in pursuit, and she runs them toward her big sister, and Rhonda has to do the fighting. Every time. Paula gets into it with someone, and Rhonda has to come swinging, and some girl ends up yanking at her long hair and making her look a mess. Paula, always a joker, stands in their doorway laughing. This works out fine for her—until one day their grandmother comes to stay with them, and now Rhonda has a witness. Their grandma sees this drama unfold out the front door three days in a row, and on the fourth she pulls Rhonda aside and pushes Paula out the door. “Get your butt out there and fight! Rhonda’s not going to help you today. Rhonda been saving you all week!”


Paula can’t fight, but she can dance. Whenever it’s just the two of them in the house, they play music all the time. Rhonda has a Jackson 5 record from the back of a cereal box, and they play it over and over. Paula tries to teach her sister new moves, but it’s a crack-up. “No, Rhonda, the beat is over here. It’s over here. Come over here, Rhonda, and get on the beat!” 


They like the neighborhood: so many kids around, riding their bikes after school or playing on the block. But the sisters are kept apart from the others. No one is allowed over to the house, and they are not allowed to visit other kids’ homes; they can only sit inside. And so they make up games that can be played with friends from their doorway.


Most days and nights, Rhonda is expected to babysit Paula while their mother works long hours as a lab technician at Methodist Hospital and their father is nowhere to be found. She gets Paula up and dressed for school; she makes biscuits for breakfast; she sets a time for homework and cooks dinner. She is made to play the role of the other mother, and she makes sure Paula knows her rank, even if it means tearing through the house fighting. But sometimes they stop playing mother-daughter and have girl time, fix each other’s hair, sit in front of the TV together and binge on cake and cookies. Sometimes Rhonda lets Paula turn the dial to The Three Stooges because it’s her favorite. She loves watching those grown men squeeze into phone booths, smack each other in the forehead, fall down a set of stairs, get a pie in the face. Rhonda thinks of it as ignorant stuff, but it lights her sister up.
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Bethune Elementary School portraits of Paula (left) and Rhonda (right)


The girls were both born in Chicago. That’s where their mother and her family are from, and where she met Ron Williams, the man she started dating right after high school. About a year later, she became pregnant, and the two got engaged. But then something went wrong. The idea was to have a wedding quickly—but when they got down to making the arrangements, they began to argue, and the arguments unfolded at a pitch that did not make sense. Ron started to worry that Gloria might be unstable, and he decided to wait. They broke up; they got back together; they did it all over again. By the time she gave birth to Rhonda, Gloria seemed so erratic to Ron, so forgetful and volatile, that he wanted to sue for full custody. But when he told his own mother, she could not condone him taking a woman’s child away. And so he let it go.


Within a few months, Gloria did marry—a man named Herman Cooper. She convinced him to raise Rhonda as his own; if Ron wanted to visit with the girl, they would simply tell people he was her uncle. Soon they had Paula, and she and Rhonda might as well believe they were full sisters.


When the girls were eight and five, the family packed up and moved to Gary. They rented a small three-bedroom house in Marshalltown. Herman did odd jobs as a mechanic, and Gloria found work at the hospital. Over the years, Herman became quick to anger at the smallest things—if the girls were slow to take out the garbage or wash the dishes. If they were in any way out of step with his moods, he was within his rights to hit them hard. That was fair punishment in their home.


The yellow house is directly across from a small storefront church, New Testament Baptist. After they settled in, Gloria ordered the girls to start heading there for Sunday school, though neither she nor their father had any plans to join. Rhonda and Paula were too young to choose their own church or faith or to make any personal decisions about God, but they did as they were told, and it got them out of the house. On the day of the girls’ baptism, Gloria decided not to attend. One of the church mothers stood in for her.


Herman disappears for weeks at a time; he comes and goes when he feels like it. When he is home, he repeatedly beats the girls—with an electrical cord or a belt or his fists. He calls to them in their bedroom and orders them to come out with all their clothes off—that way, he says, they’ll really feel it when he whips them. Gloria is drinking heavily. On the occasions when she locks him out, Herman breaks in. Late at night, Paula and Rhonda listen to their shouting through the wall. When neither of their parents is home, the girls put the chaos out of their minds and live what Rhonda will later call their “imaginary type of life.”


Gloria and Herman make a habit of separating then getting back together. It is during one of their breakups that Gloria, in the early morning, leads the girls out to the garage, ushers them into the car, and runs the engine. And it is months later that Rhonda learns Herman is not her father, that her father is “Uncle” Ron, a nice man who’s come by a few times. The abuse has been focused on her, and now Rhonda thinks she understands: Herman treats her this way because she is not actually his child; he does not feel obliged to be careful with her. She packs a few things and leaves. She is thirteen years old.


Gloria reports her missing, and Rhonda is picked up by the police and returned to the house. This happens again and again. By leaving home, she becomes, in legal terms, a status offender: a category that’s broadly defined—truancy, “immoral conduct,” “incorrigibility”—a label a juvenile court judge can use, more or less, as they’d like. Eventually a judge sends her to the juvenile detention center—what has become a catchall remedy for children who act out. She spends months in the institution, a massive sterile building, packed in with kids who have done far worse. And then she is sent back to her mother.


Eventually, as Rhonda plans yet another exit, Paula begs to come along. Begs her. And so this time, in the middle of the night, they set out together.


Rhonda feels terrible about it: there’s a big difference between being on her own and bringing a ten-year-old with her. Paula needs to be taken care of, and soon it’s starting to rain. Rhonda spots an abandoned house (there are more and more in Gary), and they find a way inside and fall asleep. The next day, they make it to the home of a friend, who says their parents are looking for them. Rhonda refuses to return; she wants to file a report with the police. A pair of officers arrive, sit with the girls, take down what they have to say. Then they load them into the patrol car and drive them back to Gloria’s. The court mandates that the entire Cooper family take part in family therapy—but the parents refuse. So the girls attend sessions alone. And Gloria and Herman are never ordered before the judge.


More escape attempts follow, and the girls are placed, together, in a string of homes. There is the Thelma Marshall Children’s Home, three and a half blocks from the Jackson 5 family house (the boys’ father had worked at the mill too), there are emergency shelters and foster homes. Every placement is temporary. This is the design of the system, based on the belief that a child’s parents are their best caretakers, and reliant upon government employees who are often overwhelmed. When Rhonda’s father Ron asks their caseworker how he can adopt the sisters himself, she tells him that the Cooper parents are “crazy,” and that she does not want any complications to interfere with her own retirement, six months away.


Finally, when Rhonda is fourteen, she moves in with her father, and Gloria does not try to stop her. Rhonda leaves the yellow house, without her younger sister. She will not return.


Paula begins skipping classes and fighting girls at school—at one school after another, transferring two or three times a year. And with Rhonda gone, Herman turns his attention to his daughter.


She learns to run away on her own. And on one of those nights, after a beating from her father, Paula runs all the way to the police station and begs to be given somewhere to live other than home.


Paula is thirteen. She will be passed from stranger to stranger for the next two years—foster homes, shelters, juvenile detention. But these stays are punctuated by time with her parents, a few weeks or months at a stretch, miserable.


One morning at home, soon after turning fourteen, Paula does not get out of bed. Does not talk to anyone. Does not open her eyes. She seems completely catatonic, and nothing Gloria says or does can stir her. Eventually, her mother cannot ignore how bad the situation looks and decides to take her for an evaluation. Paula is placed in a mental health center in East Chicago for observation.


After four days, she will be released. She will be released, again, into the care of her parents.










Two



SOUTH OF THE LITTLE CALUMET



Awhite house with slender columns in the Glen Park neighborhood, south of the Little Calumet River. This piece of Gary is just three miles from the Marshalltown development, but for much of its history, that distance was pronounced: until the late 1960s, Glen Park was within the city’s borders but kept apart, strictly white.


It is the spring of 1985, and a lot has changed. Glen Park, like much of the city, has become integrated; and, like much of the city, the neighborhood is less well tended, its residents more likely to be in search of a job after the massive layoffs at the mill.


Ruth Pelke will turn seventy-nine in a few days, and she has lived in the white house on Adams Street since the early 1940s. But most of the friends she and her husband made have already chosen to relocate farther south, into the suburbs. It seems to her that the families to move in since have each been a little poorer than the ones before. Now when a front gate, a drain pipe, or even a window breaks, many neighbors leave it that way. Police cars regularly patrol the area. Ruth has a sign on her front door that reads: The owner of this property is armed. There is nothing inside worth risking your life for. In spite of the warning, her home has been robbed four times in the last two years. One of her stepdaughters suggested they move in together; a stepson offered to help make some repairs and sell. But even after Ruth’s husband died—one year and nine months ago—she’s remained committed to living out her days in the home they shared. She has no interest in leaving.


Ruth spent nearly the first half of her life on a farm in Erie Township on the outskirts of Peru, a town about two hours southeast of Gary. She was Ruth Zimmerman then, and from a very early age she did her part, milking and feeding the cows before sunup, driving the wagon. The rhythm of that life was so distant from her future in Gary: the cool, silent mornings with only the sound of the livestock; the long, slow walks through the cornfields. The community was small, and out in its farther-flung countryside she could stand in one spot and look around in every direction and count only about half a dozen houses dotting the fields; they were so spread out, so dependent upon one another. When a neighbor’s wife was ready to give birth, Ruth’s parents would send her over to help out with the family’s chores.


The Zimmermans were part of a Brethren Church community, followers of a German branch of Protestant Christianity, and they attended services and prayer meetings at Center Chapel four or five times a week. It was a one-room church then, very small, and they would keep the windows open during service so the spillover crowd would be able to hear the sermon from where they huddled outside. Each member was baptized—in a tub inside the church or in the swimming hole near Squirrel Creek—not as a young child but only when they were old enough to understand the beliefs of the congregation, as the Brethren require. How can you accept something you do not understand? Ruth sang in the church choir, hymns like “In the Garden,” and she taught Sunday school. She had an easy way with the children, keeping them in line without ever raising her voice; she’d lost her younger brother Russell, when she was five and he was just a toddler, and she remained drawn to the younger kids.


Ruth’s social life revolved entirely around whatever was going on at the church. She was just a child during the First World War, and she watched the older boys in the town leave in droves. But, with the start of World War II, she was already thirty-three and not afraid of hard labor, and she took a job at a tire factory in Wabash. The long days of work, and the nights and weekends at Center Chapel, kept her occupied. This was partly the reason that Ruth turned thirty-five before she began dating someone with serious intentions.


By then, Ruth’s second cousin Dorothy, up in Gary, had been married for some time to a man named Oscar Pelke. Ruth would see the Pelkes when they took trips south to visit, and she always enjoyed the kids. She’d let their son Bob, already a teenager, drive the hay wagon; she didn’t even give him a hard time when once, taking a turn too quickly, he tipped the whole thing over. Dorothy and Oscar named their daughter Ruth too—a name that means “compassion”—and when Ruthie was as young as four, Ruth would send her out to the pasture to bring in the cows and then let the girl watch her milk them. Ruthie would trail after Ruth all across the property, right at her heels, totally in love with her.


Dorothy died of leukemia in 1941. A year later, Oscar and Ruth began seeing each other; another year went by, and he asked her to marry him. First, she insisted, he had to ask the children, never mind that they were hardly children anymore. Everyone was excited about it. Ruth would become the only grandmother their kids would know. She eventually had nine grandchildren and fifteen great-grandchildren, and the entire circus called her Nana. Holidays were always at Nana and Granddad’s house; she crocheted them gifts, which took much longer than shopping. When the family went fishing, she and Oscar would invite everyone over for a fish fry, and they’d make a spread in the basement, like in a church rec room, to hold all two dozen of them.


As they grew older, she and Oscar were openly affectionate, kissing and holding each other in front of friends and family. It had been like that between them since the beginning: in a photograph of Ruth and Oscar standing on Adams Street, taken early in their marriage, there’s a serious, easy closeness between the couple, he in a broad tie, hair combed back, and she in a pillbox hat and pearls. They are pressed close together, his arm hooked into hers, and though they are both staring straight into the camera, they each have a recognizable look in their eyes: the look of someone very aware of the person beside them.


[image: Start of image description, Image 2 shows Ruth and Oscar Pelke standing together on Adam’s Street., end of image description]


There is the story of the layoffs at the mills, the downswing of yet another steel town. And then there’s the story that many white residents of Lake County tell about the decline of Gary, whites whose families used to have a foothold in the city, and that can be reduced to: It was left to Black people, or A Black man got elected mayor. But Gary’s is the story of a city whose resources were bled from it by many of its white officials and white citizens.


As in many American cities, tiers of segregation were built into this place, fair conditions and fair treatment defined differently for each sector of the population. When the corporation erected Gary, they constructed a showcase of a mill, among the most advanced of its time, and a piece of a city—just enough housing and services to cover the needs of their executives and foremen and supervisors. But the majority at the Gary Works—and, soon, throughout the town—was comprised of unskilled workers who streamed in from across Eastern Europe, Greece, Turkey, Italy, and Russia. These immigrants were pushed south of the small grid of the established city, where there were no building regulations and few paved streets. Developers descended and sold them poorly constructed houses and shacks, crowded together, without running water, for grossly inflated prices. Within about ten years, by 1920, more than half of Gary’s residents were foreign-born or first-generation American—“white ethnics”—and their piece of the city was not built to last.


During the 1910s, once the influx of immigrant workers was cut off during World War I, Black workers and families from the American South streamed into industrial cities in the North, better able to compete for jobs in the factories and mills. They steadily grew to become the dominant presence in Gary’s Southside, and as they moved in, upwardly mobile white immigrant families moved out—into new neighborhoods to the east, west, and farther south. Early on, many immigrants and Black newcomers had considered each other neighbors and fellow settlers; they worked alongside one another; they sometimes shared church buildings and meeting halls. An Eastern European might learn English from his Black neighbor; some Black workers picked up Serbian or Croatian. But white, American-born locals, though the minority in Gary, maintained their advantage through a very American strategy: they pitted vulnerable groups, who had needs and grievances in common, against each other—through hiring practices, a segregated school system, whites-only businesses, whites-only public parks. Many immigrants undoubtedly experienced a sort of relief at discovering a community that was lower in rank and even more marginalized than their own.


The city, whose population had grown to about seventy thousand by the early 1920s, was becoming deeply segregated along racial lines: Black residents could only live in inferior housing in the Midtown area, attend inferior schools, and be hired for dangerous jobs (where they were first in line to be fired). The Ku Klux Klan, then at the peak of their influence in Indiana, campaigned loudly against Blacks, immigrants, and Catholics; the white supremacist group ruled Gary’s Republican Party, producing a string of mayors and city councilmen. The city’s Black residents may have come looking for a respite from the racism and Jim Crow laws of the South, but their hopes were misplaced. By the 1940s, the degree of segregation equaled that of many Deep South communities. It was not until after World War II that Black residents slowly began moving beyond the boundaries of Midtown.


Meanwhile, many white families continued relocating farther away from the mill and into neighborhoods like Glen Park, at the city’s southernmost edge. The Little Calumet River—and by the mid-1950s, Interstate 94, to the river’s north—demarcated the border between comfortable white Gary and everyone else. It is a boundary that one Indiana federal judge would later refer to as “the Berlin Wall.”


Over time, the Black residents of Gary came to make up nearly half the population. And so what happened in 1967, against great resistance, could have been seen as part of the city’s natural evolution: the election of a Black mayor, one of the very first in the country’s history.


That mayoral race would be a defining moment in the story of the city, an episode retold for generations. For the first time, a Black resident announced his candidacy for the Democratic primary. The twelfth child of a factory worker in Michigan City, Richard Hatcher had earned a law degree while working a night job, and went on to become a Lake County deputy prosecutor and a legal adviser to the Gary chapter of the NAACP (the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People). As a city councilman in the mid-1960s, he helped pass an omnibus civil rights bill and fought hard to end housing segregation through the enforcement of open occupancy laws. Hatcher’s campaign announcement came only three years after Alabama governor George Wallace—“Segregation now, segregation tomorrow, segregation forever!”—swept Lake County’s white vote in the Democratic presidential primary, and the party had not run a Black candidate for any office more influential than city coroner.


Hatcher ran on a broad anticorruption platform—local lore had it that Robert Kennedy, as U.S. attorney general, referred to Lake County as the most corrupt county in the country—but he was most identified with his commitment to Gary’s Black community. For decades, the local Democrats had relied on the conservative white steelworkers’ votes, and Hatcher would have to win without them. When he beat the incumbent in the party’s primary, in a heavily Democratic city, it was considered as good as winning the race.


Party leadership, shocked, did not throw him their full support. Instead, his platform, with its focus on public housing, was found suspect. Some white officials insisted that the needs of Gary’s Black population could be met quickly by throwing up projects in Midtown; Hatcher said the city had a duty to provide public housing throughout its neighborhoods, including the white enclaves of Glen Park and Miller. He called on “the moral conscience of the city.” The white Democratic machine was concerned that they would not hold sway over a Hatcher administration. The chairman of the county party withheld campaign funds; he demanded that Hatcher publicly denounce the Black Power movement and agree to allow the party certain key appointments to his cabinet.


Rather than give in, Hatcher appealed to outside donors through a full-page ad in The New York Times: “We’re at War, You Know. With Ourselves,” the ad opened, and featured a photo of a white policeman clubbing a Black man. It called for “Peace and unity for all men—black and white (and every shade in between).” Hatcher deployed armies of student volunteers to register voters in Gary’s Black-majority neighborhoods. He received public support from Indiana senator Birch Bayh, now senator Robert Kennedy, President Lyndon Johnson (who invited him to the White House), and Vice President Hubert Humphrey (who embraced him on camera). The Lake County Democratic Party, in the meantime, had thrown its support behind the Republican candidate. The last time Gary had a Republican mayor was in the 1920s, during the heyday of the Klan.


When Hatcher won the race, he and Carl Stokes of Cleveland, Illinois, became the first two Black mayors of major cities in American history.


There is a version of the story of Gary that might have come to pass then—the story of a city, half Black and half white, that became, if not fully integrated, the home of two equally thriving communities. Midtown was growing—Black-owned businesses, clothing stores, record shops, breakfast spots and nightclubs, packed Black churches—and the civil rights movement had injected a new energy into the area. Young Black talent from the region and around Chicago came to work for the Hatcher administration. The Post-Tribune had been a successful white-run newspaper since the city’s founding, but Black Gary had the recently founded weeklies Info and The Gary Crusader—the self-described Militant Voice of the People, with its motto Blacks Must Control Their Own Community. The Crusader, in particular, was full of mentions of local students who had made the state college’s dean’s list, or earned an Eagle Scout award or an Army Reserve award, or been named a teen pageant finalist; of Gary residents who’d been elected to the board of the Lake County Young Democrats; announcements of a new children’s summer theater program or a teen pianist’s recital. The community was telling itself the story of what it could become, was on the verge of becoming.


But over the next several years, white flight from the city accelerated. The image of a Black mayor—and one committed to civil rights and open housing—helped lead a city that was half Black to become, by the end of the 1970s, more than 70 percent Black. White families relocated to suburbs farther south, such as Merrillville and Portage, where developers spent their money on new shopping centers that catered to white Lake County. The big banks followed, as well as nearly all white-owned businesses. The gutted population meant a gutted tax base and the beginning of a decades-long decay of the city’s infrastructure. Abandoned buildings became part of the downtown landscape. People needed work, and crime was rising.


Half the city’s residents had abandoned it because they refused to recognize themselves in its other half.


Four blocks away from Ruth’s house is Lew Wallace High School, a large redbrick schoolhouse where her stepson Bob studied long ago. It is lunch break on a Tuesday morning, and Paula Cooper, fifteen now, walks out with Karen and April. In the pocket of her white denim jacket, she has a prescription and a note from her mother: permission to leave early today to refill her birth control pills. The three tenth graders decide to head over to Candyland Arcade around the corner.


Paula has been at Lew Wallace for just a few weeks—it’s her fourth high school—and Karen is her best friend here. At sixteen, Karen’s a large girl, often out of breath; everyone calls her Pooky, maybe because of her sweet face (in spite of the scar through her eyebrow). She has a child, who’s three, and he mostly stays at home with her godmother. April’s about to have the same problem—though she can still hide it at seven months.


The girls walk a few long blocks through Glen Park, down 45th to Broadway. At the arcade, they play games, talk to boys, buy candy. Not much is happening; everyone is growing bored.


They decide to skip school for the rest of the afternoon. April invites along a younger girl the others don’t really know—Denise, who’s fourteen, a freshman—and together they walk the three blocks to the house where April stays with her siblings, to sit on her porch and drink Wild Irish Rose. Earlier in the week, the girls had robbed a neighbor—broke a window near the back door, slipped in, and came away with ninety dollars—but they’ve spent most of that money. After buying candy, they’re down to a few quarters between them.


Paula watches April look up and down the block, sizing up the houses she can see from the porch: a lazy kind of recon. April mentions an old woman who lives in the house just behind hers. “Remember that lady we saw standing out back?” Paula and Karen remember her. “Well, we could go over to her house,” she says. “Because she has a lot of money and jewelry and different things.”


The place the girls are talking about across the alley, the bright white house with the columns out front, is the home of Ruth Pelke. What they know about Mrs. Pelke is what April tells them: she is a Bible teacher, she is elderly, and she lives alone. The key to getting into her house, April says, is to ask about Bible study.


Outside of her church, Ruth used to volunteer with Child Evangelism Fellowship, driving into downtown Gary once a week to teach children eight and under in an after-school program. Ruth also organized local 5-Day Clubs for CEF, usually during the summer, in which she talked to slightly older kids about her faith, and when kids didn’t have parents to take them to church, she’d bring them along to Glen Park Baptist herself. This is what she’d done for April a few years back—though, out on her porch this afternoon, April has told Paula and Karen and Denise none of this. They do not understand how well she knows the lady across the alleyway.


April had been among Mrs. Pelke’s last students, two years ago—shortly before Ruth’s husband died and she retired from teaching and began keeping more to herself. She had even driven April and her brother to church for their first time—to the Pelkes’ newer church, Christ Temple, since their longtime congregation had moved farther south. After April’s mother died, Mrs. Pelke reached out to her again: she invited April over for meals and packed her lunches for school. This is how, today, April knows that Mrs. Pelke will be alone; this is why, today, April assumes that the woman must have money in the house—because of the many little things she has done for her. If a person gives freely, they must have more than others.


One Mother’s Day several years earlier, Ruth’s pastor had asked the mothers in the congregation to stand up to be recognized. Because Ruth had no children of her own, she remained seated in her pew. Her grandson Bill noticed this, and it bothered him: she had never allowed them to celebrate her on Mother’s Day. And so a few days later, when Ruth turned seventy, her family threw her a combined birthday and “Nana’s Day” party. They dressed her in a store-bought crown and a homemade queen’s robe trimmed with faux fur.


[image: Start of image description, Image 3 shows a 70 year-old Ruth Pelke smiling at her ‘Nana’s Day’ party., end of image description]


In four days, Ruth will have her birthday, and her great-grandson will turn fifteen. There’s also her great-granddaughter’s high school graduation coming up fast; maybe, for the celebration, she’ll bring over the macaroni salad everyone likes, the kind with watermelon pickles.


Since settling in Gary more than forty years ago, Ruth has taught hundreds of children stories from the Bible. In a string of neighborhood living rooms, she’s gathered kids together, lining them up on the sofa or seating them cross-legged on the carpet, and served them Kool-Aid and cookies. She’s mounted a flannel board on an easel and walked cutouts across that field of blue—of Joseph and his coat of many colors; of Jonah and the whale, its mouth wide open; of Daniel and the lions.


Though her own people, on the farm near Peru, were Brethren, once Ruth married into the Pelke clan, she became part of a family that was resolutely Baptist. The Pelkes were part of a Baptist community in Gary that, like her own, revolved entirely around church life: if the doors were open, and you weren’t at work or at school, you were at church. You showed up for service, for Bible study, for after-work prayer meetings and volunteer projects. Glen Park Baptist had been just a few blocks from Ruth and Oscar’s house, and there they could worship alongside most of the kids and grandkids. She taught their early Sunday school class before attending morning service; on Wednesdays, she went to prayer meetings and Pioneer Girls meetings, followed by choir practice. She made quilts for visiting missionaries with the women’s circle and hosted the visitors in her home. She knitted booties for the new babies in the congregation; she drove her friends to church; she tithed any extra money she and Oscar had—even when the dryer broke and then the TV set too.


In the two years following Oscar’s death, holidays are hosted by other family members. The house is quiet. But Ruth can draw on the independent spirit of her earlier life. She gardens and mows her own lawn with a push mower, goes out for her own groceries—and she can’t imagine moving. She isn’t foolish or superstitious, but maybe some piece of Oscar’s presence lingers.


It’s after three p.m. and hot when the girls leave April’s porch to visit the Bible teacher. April stays behind: she is a too-familiar face. Paula and the others cross the alley behind the white house on Adams Street.


They walk across the stretch of flat, no-fuss lawn and up the front steps. They pass between a pair of neatly tended ferns with drippy tendrils, under the archway, two columns on either side, and crowd onto the porch.


Karen rings the bell.


The three stand and wait, quietly. Paula listens: the sound of slow steps across the floorboards; she can see movement behind the glass panel. Mrs. Pelke opens the door.


From behind Karen, Paula looks at the lady for the first time. Mrs. Pelke may have grown up on farm and factory work, but she is an elegant woman, with a slim white neck. Her hair is set in bright white curls, and her eyeglasses curve upward at either end; the look in her eyes is gentle and steady. She’s only slightly shorter than Paula, but she looks so much smaller. She is someone’s good grandmother, somebody’s soft mother.


“My auntie would like to know about Bible classes,” Karen says. “When you all hold them.”


“Well, now’s not a good time,” the lady says. “But if you and your auntie come over on a Saturday, I can give you both some information.” And Mrs. Pelke closes the door.


Slowly, the girls turn around and file back down the walkway as they came.


Well, you could scare the lady with this”—that’s what April says to Paula back at her house. They are standing in the kitchen, and she’s pulled a knife out of a drawer. The blade is wide and twelve inches long. A butcher knife.


This time, April says, they should go to the lady’s house and tell her they need all the information about the classes written down—dates, address, phone number. Paula removes her white denim jacket and wraps the knife inside.


And so they cross the alley and round the corner and, once again, file up that walkway on Adams Street.


Once again, Karen rings the bell.


Once again, as if the possible paths their lives might take were being rearranged, Mrs. Pelke comes to the door. Paula stands behind the others, gripping her jacket to her chest.


Mrs. Pelke opens the screen door. And one, two, three: the girls each step across the threshold.


They enter the living room, with its large fireplace. An ivy-like pattern covers the walls; the davenport is printed with leaves. Here and there are hung small pictures of modest landscapes, a barn covered in snow. Paula carefully sets her jacket down on the sofa.


They trail the old woman into the dining room, where there is a large table, a pump organ, and a writing desk. Above the desk is a black-and-white photograph of Oscar as a boy, standing beside a horse—not that the girls would know who he is, why his picture matters in this house. Mrs. Pelke pauses at the desk and pulls a pen and pad out of the drawer: she will write a note for the girls, all they need to know. The lady leans over—and Paula comes up from behind and knocks her down.


Mrs. Pelke lands seated on the carpet, legs splayed in front of her, the tips of her thick-soled shoes pointed toward the ceiling. Just within reach, on the table, is a glass paperweight: Paula picks it up and brings it down hard on the lady’s head.


For a moment, nothing moves. And then it springs forth from the woman’s head: a red rush of blood. The blood spills out, true red against white hair.


Mrs. Pelke does not stir. Paula looks down at the lady. She has never before laid someone low like this, not an adult. Now Mrs. Pelke is no longer who she was when she answered the door, that well-kept churchwoman with the bright curls.


Paula will remember what comes next like this: that suddenly, there on the tabletop, is the knife. Right there, within reach. And she reaches for it.


Her movements are exaggerated now, double time. She slashes at the lady—little sideways cuts, at her arms, her legs. She is shouting: “Where’s the money, bitch?” She shouts it again, then again, slashing at the woman’s dress, growing more determined, cutting through skin. Mrs. Pelke, overwhelmed, tips over, falling flat on her back.


Paula climbs on top of her. From this vantage point, peering down at the lady’s face, straddling her thighs, she sees Mrs. Pelke’s earrings, like silver buttons, and the blood trapped under the rim of her glasses, and those dark freckles that old people get on their skin. She can hear sounds coming from the lady’s mouth, a stream of words. Paula can just make them out: “If you do this, you’ll be sorry.”


A key deep inside Paula turns and catches, and she is set in motion. She stabs the woman in her chest; she pulls out the knife; she stabs her again. Her hand comes down more than thirty times before she stops, leaving the blade in Mrs. Pelke’s stomach.


Paula is finally used up. She looks at Denise—she’s been standing there the whole time, her back against the wall. “Come here,” Paula says, “and hold the knife.”


Denise shakes, every part of her: she can’t—she’s a baby. Karen will do it. Paula gets up to let her take her place.


But Karen pauses. “I can’t look at the lady.” She leaves the dining room, then returns with a bath towel. Karen drops it, that piece of white terry cloth, over Mrs. Pelke’s face. Now she can sit across the legs of the dying woman.


Paula searches the house. In one of the bedrooms, she finds a key ring on top of the bureau. She rushes past Denise (tearing through the closet) and Karen (with the lady on the floor) and out to the sedan where it’s parked in the garage. She tries it in the lock: Not. It.


Just then, she sees April cross the alley, and the two enter the house together. They join Denise in the rummaging. They drag bags and hangers and blankets out of the bedroom closet, pull out dresser drawers and sofa cushions, until they find it: the key to the Plymouth. That, and ten dollars.


During the time the search takes, Karen remains crouched over Mrs. Pelke, holding on to the knife. And after the first fifteen minutes have passed, Karen decides to test something: she wants to see if the blade will go in deeper. So she shoves it in. She pushes it down, through the woman’s chest, until the tip comes out the other side—out through her back, through the carpet, and into the wooden floorboard below. And then she rocks the handle from side to side, feeling how the point is now fixed in place.


Ruth is pinned like a specimen to her own dining-room floor, and she can see nothing. She will die soon, and the young girls are still circling, stalking, moving through the house, overturning the photos of the grandkids and touching and tossing aside Oscar’s things. These are children, like the hundreds of others who’ve passed through Ruth’s house. That was why she’d let them in.










Three



THE MAKING OF A PROSECUTOR



Seven years earlier, in 1978, Jack Crawford had decided to run for Lake County prosecutor. A campaign ad shows him at twenty-nine, outdoors on a sunny day in a rugby shirt, giving the camera a full-toothed grin. The ad communicates that he’s young! and fresh!, belying the tough-on-crime campaign he’s about to run. The so-called political experts say Jack Crawford can’t win the race for Lake County Prosecutor. Jack Crawford doesn’t depend on the experts. He depends on You!


Jack had been in his first semester at the University of Notre Dame, in a suburb about an hour east of Gary, when Richard Hatcher was first rumored to be running for mayor. It was all the adults around him seemed to be talking about, and Jack, who was Irish American, was struck by the amount of sheer white animus directed toward the man: talk of how he would ruin the city, how he was a secret communist or a Black Panther or both. During his childhood, Jack’s idea of what it meant to be Black had something to do with the view he and his grandfather saw out the window of the elevated train as it passed through Wrigleyville in Chicago on the way to watch a Cubs game: small tenement apartments packed with families, the kids wearing shabby clothes. He heard his father tell a few jokes about Black people that he looked back on with discomfort.


Jack had grown up in Hammond, a town fifteen minutes from Gary that would later inspire the Rockwellesque setting of the movie A Christmas Story. It was a small city that, like parts of Gary then, was split along several white-ethnic fault lines—Greeks, Serbs, Croatians, Yugoslavians, Poles—each with its own churches and taverns. Most had emigrated for the abundance of jobs in the mills; for many young men, the paycheck would be solid and the unions would provide security. Jack considered his upbringing middle-class, leaning toward lower-middle-class: His mother was a schoolteacher; his father was a barber and a worker at Standard Oil; the family was union all the way. He was raised to believe the union had given his family its start, and that meant you voted straight Democrat, without question. Industry had long ago turned Lake County blue in a doggedly red state.


They were Catholic in very Protestant Northwest Indiana, and Jack had attended one of the two area Catholic schools, Bishop Noll Institute, where teachers wore clerical black. In yearbook photos, in his navy blazer, he looked young and clean and eager to please. Many of his classmates at Bishop Noll were of Irish descent, and many of those were first- or second-generation American; Jack was raised on stories of how hard the Irish experience had been, coming to the States. It was through that lens, as the civil rights movement was becoming visible to mainstream America (Jack was a sophomore when the March on Washington took place), that he decided he related to the Black experience. In high school, Jack would sometimes drive into Midtown—he wasn’t afraid the way some of his friends were. He’d shop for records, check out some cool clothes, go to Miller Beach, where he could see the Gary Works stacks in the distance, and the dark smoke that shrouded them. The guys he brought along would ask, “Okay, what did you want to come here for?” He was curious.


At Notre Dame in the late 1960s, politics were at the center of campus life, and Jack wanted to be a part of it. John F. Kennedy, the country’s first Irish Catholic president, was shot when Jack was in high school, and now Kennedy’s younger brother Robert was his personal hero. He saw him as less cerebral and detached than his brother, more of a “doer,” a tough prosecutor who helped mount an aggressive investigation of Jimmy Hoffa and an attack on organized crime as attorney general. In the spring of 1968, Bobby Kennedy, now grown into an idealist and an advocate for civil rights, entered the presidential race late, and he needed to win the Democratic primary in Indiana. On his first day in the state, he would find himself in Indianapolis, informing a shocked crowd of the assassination of Martin Luther King Jr.—but earlier, in the afternoon, he’d made an appearance at Notre Dame. As a volunteer, Jack helped coordinate the candidate’s visit, escorting him down the packed streets toward the campus. In the auditorium, full far beyond capacity, young men listened to Kennedy talk about their “personal responsibility” to invest in the country’s political process, to find solutions to poverty and hunger and inequality. When asked about the Vietnam draft, in motion for four years already, Kennedy said he did not believe in college deferments. Jack would remember him saying something like, The only reason you’re here is you’re children of privilege. The unfairness of that should strike you in your heart. That means you don’t have to die, and someone who did not have your privileges has to go to Vietnam. If the children of wealthy, privileged, white Americans were forced to go off to the jungles of Vietnam to fight, this war would be over tomorrow.


Two months later, Kennedy, like his brother, was assassinated. And the following year, the draft became a lottery. For the lottery’s launch, “youth advisory council” delegates were sent to D.C. from around the country to pick numbers onstage on live TV; Father Hesburgh, the longtime president of Notre Dame, chose Jack to go, as student-body president. When his turn came, he reached inside a glass jar full of blue capsules, each containing a birth date and its assigned draft status. He did this five times, and then the next delegate took their turn. This was how, in a single night, about 850,000 men learned their likelihood of being killed in the war. At Notre Dame, students began burning their draft cards during Mass on campus. Jack applied to law school to pursue a career in public office, but also in the hope of extending his deferment.


After graduate school at Indiana University at Bloomington, Jack was hired by Chicago firm Kirkland & Ellis. In the meantime, he’d married Ann, a woman he’d met in college. She was two years younger, also Irish Catholic, and a staunch liberal from Long Island, New York. She could relate to Jack’s fascination with the Kennedy mystique, and she understood that he had a larger plan. And so, when he left his lucrative job to become a poorly paid assistant city attorney back in Hammond, she supported this first small step in what she assumed would be a long career.


Jack planned to make his start with or without the support of the Democratic machine. He bided his time until he saw an opening: Hammond city court judge. As someone without political allies, experience, or endorsements, few thought Jack could win. But he and Ann went door to door throughout the city, thousands of doors. He won in a landslide. It was a modest position—he was, essentially, in “traffic court”—but he had become one of the youngest judges in Indiana. And he was certainly much younger than the other officials in the court building. While they waited for the elevator, Jack made a habit of running up the stairs.


After about two years on the bench, Jack began considering a big leap: Lake County prosecutor. Jack, with little experience in criminal law or as a trial lawyer, coveted the office. Across the country, prosecutors (or district attorneys) have almost total discretion in deciding whether or not someone should be indicted, whether or not a case should go to trial, and how high the stakes will be for the defendant: real influence.


The party machine was not pleased: you were not supposed to run against the incumbent; there was a pecking order. The county Democratic chairman came to Jack and asked him to wait another nine, ten years. But Jack’s successes would always be driven by appetite; his drive grew in proportion to the size of the obstacles in front of him. If his campaign for prosecutor was pissing a lot of people off, he was prepared to hustle hard enough to make up the difference. He and Ann went door to door again—a lot more doors. He packed in appearances, giving talks to PTA groups and women’s clubs, at local bingo games and house parties of fifteen people. A natural politician, he remembered everyone’s name. Jack would put in a full day of shaking hands and at the last minute, at ten-thirty p.m., ask his volunteer driver to turn into the parking lot at Bethlehem Steel because he knew the men would be changing shifts.


Jack’s key campaign issue was plea bargaining: he accused the incumbent of bargaining 90 percent of his cases—a percentage Jack admitted was an “educated guess” (the incumbent, Ray Sufana, suggested it was closer to 55 percent for felony cases). Lake County had about a thousand criminal cases filed each year, and it was impossible for all of them to go to trial and not have the courts collapse. But Jack’s instinct told him that comeuppance would sell well. On the day before the May election, he ran a last-minute ad: a photo of Jack and his pretty wife strolling together, looking middle-class relatable and carefree, with the message “Don’t Plea Bargain Your Safety Away!”


Jack had developed a new level of savvy since his Hammond campaign. Running for city judge, he performed very poorly with the Black community, losing their vote 10 to 1, and his immediate reaction had been: I’m not racist—what is this about? On a countywide level now, he could not win without Black support, so he became more deliberate in his strategy. He approached the more influential ministers in the Black community. Among the most prominent was the Reverend A. R. Burns, pastor of Mount Zion Missionary Baptist Church in Hammond for over thirty years and a father of twelve. When Jack learned that Reverend Burns had a daughter, Mary, who was a receptionist for the police department, he hired her to work in his office as an investment in his own future. Jack found her charming and attractive, and she helped him make the rounds at the major Black churches.


He became a regular at Black services, whether with Ann or with Mary, and was often asked, as an elected official, to come up front to say a few words. Jack learned to make his case as a candidate up there by the pulpit, an approach he couldn’t have taken at the white churches he knew. Mary was used to politicians (who were predominantly white) coming into the Black community for a drop-in, announcing with fanfare that they’d be bringing “turkey and ham and bingo and prizes!” to their campaign event—and assuming that was enough to bring people out and secure their votes. As if Black residents in the county never thought about the issues, never cared about whether someone was going to follow through on their promises. Jack, however, struck Mary as a fair person, and someone who spoke to Black and white voters in the same way; she didn’t mind introducing him at a house party in Hammond, or suggesting an appearance at some prominent couple’s fiftieth-anniversary celebration. He would make late-night stops at a Black club like the Blue Room, without an entourage or security, and bring Ann along on his arm. This was not something white officials were doing.


Behind the scenes, Jack also formed an allegiance with Mayor Hatcher, who had heard about this candidate’s style. During a private lunch in the mayor’s office, Hatcher said, “You and your wife, I know that you go to Black clubs at night to campaign. You go by yourself, I’ve been told. That means something to me, that you feel comfortable coming into the community and participating. You strike me as a young man who knows what time it is.” Hatcher told his precinct captains—his lieutenants throughout the city—that they were going for Crawford.


Jack won. And in Sufana’s final week, a long line stretched from his office down the hall—a line of people trying to make deals before the new no-deals prosecutor took office. Some in the building referred to it as a “going-out-of-business sale.”


When Jack took office in January 1979, he inherited eight hundred open cases, in addition to the thousand he could expect to be filed that year. But he was determined to make a reputation for himself as a hard-line prosecutor, and that meant avoiding plea bargaining wherever he could. In a move that would become commonplace on a national level, Jack soon set up a Career Criminal Unit that made more aggressive use of the state’s habitual offender law: Three strikes automatically earned a person thirty additional years on their sentence, regardless of the level of seriousness of that third charge. If someone was brought in who had two prior felony convictions and was up for a third, Jack’s staff always took the option of adding the habitual as a consecutive sentence, known around the office (and in the prison system) as “the bitch.” What would have been a ten-year under Sufana became a forty-year; twenty years became fifty. Jack was “three strikes” all the way.


Tom Vanes, a veteran of the previous administration, was made head of the Career Criminal Unit—but Jack otherwise got rid of nearly the entire staff. He was able to hire a lot of talented young attorneys, a diverse group, because they knew they’d have a chance to try cases rather than regularly plead them out. And despite the county being much smaller than New York or Chicago, it had more than its share of crime; as Vanes put it, Lake County just had “one or two fewer zeros in the amounts of money stolen.” For some of the same reasons that made recruiting easy, Jack’s job was made riskier. He was a visible, aggressive prosecutor whose name was known throughout the region. When he went out in public, he often brought an armed investigator with him.


When it came time for the next Democratic primary, no one ran against Jack Crawford because they knew they’d lose. He was a man of grand ambitions. As one public defender put it: “You could just tell he was doing The Jeffersons. He was movin’ on up.” Such comments were not always intended to flatter. A female assistant to one of the judges said Jack “came in like on stardust, so full of himself,” flirty, like he thought he was “hot shit.”


For someone who denied that he had his sights on the White House, Jack seemed very conscious of his trajectory. In 1983, a year into his second term as prosecutor, he decided to run in the Democratic congressional primary in Indiana’s 1st District—a mainly Democratic district that included Lake and Porter counties. Once again, Jack was counting on the support of voters, rather than party insiders who felt he was rushing, pushing too hard. It was with this run for Congress that his upward mobility hit a wall.


[image: Start of image description, Image 4 shows Jack Crawford in 1983 in Indiana’s 1st District, during a run for Democratic Congress., end of image description]


He was confident he would win. But, through a combination of bad timing, some poor strategic choices, and significantly less time spent shaking hands than in his earlier campaigns, Jack not only lost but came in third. The winner, Pete Visclosky, was low on charisma but solid; in contrast to Jack’s reputation as a “political animal,” he came off as no-frills and sincere. On election night, as it became increasingly apparent that Jack was going to lose, he was a no-show at his campaign office, where his volunteers were gathered waiting to hear from him. The following day, gutted, Jack took off from work and went to see the Cubs play. One local news outlet found a way to make a story out of it, along the lines of Jack Crawford drowns his sorrows with another loser, the Chicago Cubs.


The question became: What next? He would likely hold on to the Prosecutor’s Office for another term or two—that was the platform he had at his disposal. His future might depend on how much of a statement he could make in Lake County.


And now it is 1985. Gary continues to take turns with Detroit as the FBI’s “murder capital” of the country. Two high-profile assassinations in the city in recent years remain unsolved: that of Hank “Babe” Lopez, the former president of the steel workers’ union at Inland Steel; and that of Jay Given, a powerful East Chicago attorney. The Prosecutor’s Office is regularly charged with handling home invasions, rapes, “dismemberment slayings,” and gang wars, and it seems that a weekend cannot go by without a homicide. At the same time, mill jobs across Lake County have dramatically declined throughout Jack’s tenure, mainly because of the importing of steel, and many people are desperate.


In response, the prosecutor continues to shore up his aggressive reputation. And a key weapon in his arsenal is the death penalty.


In the 1970s, the United States had a five-year nationwide moratorium on capital punishment. It began in 1972 with a landmark case won by the NAACP’s Legal Defense and Educational Fund (or LDF) as led by the attorney Anthony Amsterdam. In Furman v. Georgia, Amsterdam argued that the death penalty was unconstitutional under the Eighth Amendment barring “cruel and unusual punishment”—and the Supreme Court agreed. In their decision, the Court focused on the penalty’s arbitrariness as carried out by the states: Justice Potter Stewart wrote, These death sentences are cruel and unusual in the same way that being struck by lightning is cruel and unusual. But over the following years, several death-penalty states wrote new statutes giving greater guidance to juries in capital cases. These new laws created a two-phase trial procedure: the jury would first decide whether the defendant was guilty, and then it would consider, after a presentation of “aggravating” and “mitigating” circumstances, whether they should be sentenced to death. And so in 1976, in Gregg v. Georgia, the Court ruled that these new statutes prevented capital punishment from stepping beyond the bounds of the Eighth Amendment. The door was opened to hundreds more death sentences—a revival. In January 1977, executions resumed.


About a year later, under Jack’s predecessor, Tom Vanes caught the first death-penalty case in the state after the moratorium—and won. Soon Jack Crawford was elected, and prepared to make full use of the country’s most severe sentence. He quickly handed Tom his second and third capital cases, and it rolled on from there. Most of Tom’s colleagues, many still in their twenties, were eager for this kind of high-profile work. Tom thought the office had that air of competition most people associate with sports.


When weighing whether or not to pursue death, after six years in office, Jack feels he has a fairly straightforward approach. The first two questions he asks himself are obvious ones: Is the evidence strong?, and What is the defendant’s record or background? But then he gets a little more abstract, more interpretive: Do the facts of this murder shock the conscience? Does society have to make a statement? This last question is one that Jack spends particular time considering. Lake County recently had a rash of murders committed by young people: Does the prosecutor, representing the community, have to draw a line and say Even though you are not an adult, we’re going to hold you responsible as an adult under the law and extract the maximum penalty? His answer is yes nearly every time. Always in the background is his mandate: no pleas, if he can avoid them. A hard line.


Jack was taught that to be Catholic was to be adamantly, uncompromisingly pro-life. But as prosecutor, he sees that plenty of Catholics—plenty of devout Christians of any denomination—are willing to accept the death penalty, even call for it, for crimes they decide are heinous enough. He and Ann attend Mass each week, and neither of them sees this as a contradiction. Specific cases can always be the exception to a moral rule: no matter how fixed a rule is in theory, there is always the question of in practice. He has come to believe that a person’s religion has little to do with their feelings about the death penalty. People often invoke their faith when talking about justice—but what they are drawing on, their instinctive need for retribution, is more primal.


Jack continues going to Mass on Sundays, but he feels his Catholicism falling away. Attending church has become one more obligation; his faith makes less and less sense to him. The cases that come to him nearly every day, the crime-scene photos: they have begun to wear on him. There are the gang killings; there are the toddlers whose parents dipped their feet into scalding hot bathwater as punishment, their baby skin swollen with such long, angry blisters they can’t walk. There are theological explanations for why God would allow this kind of suffering, and Jack has heard them. But if He is truly all-powerful and all-seeing, then couldn’t He, wouldn’t He, prevent these things from happening? Soon, Jack will stop going to church altogether.
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